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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

COLUMBIA DIVISION 
 

 
           
CHARLES MICHAEL JONES,  )  
                                Plaintiff,  ) 
  ) 
v.   ) DOCKET NO.  _________ 
  ) JURY DEMAND 
ERIC CAPERTON,  ) 
ZACH FERGUSON,  and    ) 
LAWRENCE COUNTY, TN,  ) 
                                 Defendants.  ) 
 
 
 

COMPLAINT 

Comes now the Plaintiff, by and through his attorney of record, and for cause of action 

against the Defendants, both jointly and severally, would respectfully state as follows: 

 
I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This action is brought against the Defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for 

deprivation of civil rights secured by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. It arises out of the savage, willful, malicious, sadistic assault of Mr. Jones by the 

Defendants, during a routine traffic stop in Giles County, Tennessee.   

 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This is an action for redress for violations of the civil rights laws of the United 

States and jurisdiction of this Court is therefore invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a), 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, and 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a). 
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3. The acts and omissions and the resulting claims asserted in this Complaint 

occurred in and arose in Ethridge, Giles County, Tennessee, which is located in this District. 

Venue is thus properly laid in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).  

 

III. PARTIES 

4. The Plaintiff Charles Michael Jones is a citizen and resident of Lawrence County, 

Tennessee, residing at 444 Coffey McGee Road, Lawrenceburg, TN 38464.  

5. Defendant Eric Caperton was at all time material to the allegations in this 

Complaint an employee of the Lawrence County Sheriff’s Department, acting in his capacity as a 

law enforcement officer, specifically a deputy sheriff, with the Lawrence County Sheriff’s 

Department, and acting under color of state law by virtue of his authority as a law enforcement 

officer. He is sued in his individual capacity.  

6. Defendant Zach Ferguson was at all time material to the allegations in this 

Complaint an employee of the Lawrence County Sheriff’s Department, acting in his capacity as a 

law enforcement officer, specifically a deputy sheriff, with the Lawrence County Sheriff’s 

Department, and acting under color of state law by virtue of his authority as a law enforcement 

officer. He is sued in his individual capacity.  

7. Defendant Lawrence County, TN is a political subdivision of the State of 

Tennessee. Defendant is and was at all times relevant responsible for the training and supervision 

of its law enforcement officers, including Defendants Caperton and Ferguson. Lawrence County 

at all times relevant has established and implemented policies, practices, procedures, and 

customs used by law enforcement officers employed by Lawrence County regarding interaction 
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with citizens and the use of force.  At all times relevant, Lawrence County and its deputies 

Caperton and Ferguson were acting under color of state law. 

 

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

8. On October 5, 2020, Charles Michael Jones was operating a motor vehicle in 

Ethridge, TN. While he was not in violation of any rules of the road concerning the active 

operation of his vehicle, he admittedly was driving on a suspended license, a fact purportedly 

known by Defendants Caperton and Ferguson.  

9. When the Defendants Caperton and Ferguson saw Mr. Jones, and allegedly 

recognized him, they pulled his van over, on Dry Weakley Road.   

10. Upon information and belief, Defendants Caperton and Ferguson began their 

pursuit of Mr. Jones in Lawrence County and pursued him into Giles County. Said act is a direct 

violation of their policy and procedure which clearly states they are not to pursue out of their 

jurisdiction.  Nevertheless, they did so and pulled the vehicle over.   

11. When the van came to a complete stop, Mr. Jones placed the vehicle in park, and 

left the engine running. In fact, after this incident, when a family member retrieved the vehicle, it 

was still in park with the engine running. 

12. Just as the officers were familiar with Mr. Jones, he was familiar with them, 

particularly the propensity for violence of Defendant Ferguson. As a result, upon bringing his 

vehicle to a complete stop, Mr. Jones placed his arms out the driver’s side window so the officers 

would see he was not armed.    

Case 1:21-cv-00047   Document 1   Filed 07/12/21   Page 3 of 20 PageID #: 3



4 
 

13. Nevertheless, the officers drew their weapons immediately and screamed at Mr. 

Jones, yelling, “get out of the car, you SOB.” 

14. The officers immediately ran to the door of the Jones’ vehicle and jerked the door 

open. Mr. Jones did not resist exiting the vehicle in any fashion. (was car rolling that is what I 

was told in initial intake, what is story with holding wheel)  

15. For no apparent reason, and certainly no legitimate law enforcement purpose, the 

officers jerked Mr. Jones from the vehicle, and commenced a savage attack. Together, they 

slammed him to the ground face first. Defendant Caperton then placed his knee in the back of 

Mr. Jones and then Defendant Ferguson viciously punched Mr. Jones in the face and head 

multiple times.  

16. Upon information and belief, this was not the first time, nor would it be the last 

that Caperton and Ferguson engaged in behavior of this sort- specifically the unjustified use of 

excessive force, a fact well known to the Lawrence County Sheriff’s Department.  

17. Finally, apparently tiring of the beating, the Defendants stood Mr. Jones up and 

handcuffed him. By this time, the plaintiff had suffered severe facial injuries and was bleeding 

profusely from his injuries. The following pictures were taken shortly thereafter in the hospital 

and reflect the severity of his injuries: 
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18. At this point, one of the Defendants called Lawrence County EMS and requested 

medical attention. Prior to the ambulance arriving, Defendant Ferguson roughly swiped paper 

towels across the Plaintiff’s face, to remove blood. Further, one of the Defendants moved their 

vehicle over the massive puddle of blood on the road. Upon information and belief, each of these 

acts were willfully done to cover evidence of their handiwork from the EMTs.  

19. Ultimately Mr. Jones was transported by ambulance to the Crockett Hospital 

Emergency Room. After being evaluated there, it was apparently determined his injuries were 

too severe for that facility. As such, he was medi-transported to the Skyline Hospital in Davidson 

County, Tennessee. Mr. Jones was admitted there. While admitted, it was determined that both 

eye sockets, his sinus cavity and his nose were badly broken. As a result of these severe injuries, 

Mr. Jones was forced to undergo multiple surgical procedures to reconstruct his face.  

20. Upon discharge from the hospital, Mr. Jones returned to Lawrence County, where 

he has remained post incident. It is noteworthy that a member of the Lawrence County Sheriff’s 

Office came to Mr. Jones’ mother’s house post incident to serve a warrant and advised “Don’t 

hold this against us, we’re not all like this.”  

21. As a direct and proximate result of the above- described acts, Mr. Jones  sustained 

significant injury from which he suffered and continues to suffer great physical and emotional 

pain. He has incurred and will continue to incur significant medical care and expense. He has 

suffered a permanent impairment as well as significant pain and suffering and a loss of 

enjoyment of life.   
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V. FEDERAL CLAIMS FOR RELIEF (42 U.S.C. § 1983)  
 

COUNT I- EXCESSIVE FORCE 
(DEFENDANTS CAPERTON AND FERGUSON) 

 
22. The actions and inactions of Defendants Caperton and Ferguson which resulted in 

the Mr. Jones’s injuries were done under color of state law and in a manner which caused him to 

suffer constitutional violations. Specifically, the Defendants operated to violate the right of Mr. 

Jones not to be subjected to excessive force and unlawful seizure under the Fourth and 

Fourteenth Amendments, which protects a citizen from the use of excessive force that is 

objectively unreasonable and does not serve a legitimate governmental/ law enforcement 

purpose. A reasonable law enforcement officer would or should have known that this 

constitutional right was clearly established at the time the alleged wrongful conduct occurred, 

and that such conduct violated that right.  

23. Defendants operated to violate Mr. Jones’s civil rights as protected by the Civil 

Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

24. The conduct of Defendants in this matter was objectively unreasonable as well as 

intentional, reckless, deliberate, unjustified, excessive, gratuitous and was indicative of their 

disregard of and indifference to Mr. Jones’s wellbeing which led to the unnecessary infliction of 

pain and suffering, and the deprivation of his constitutional rights to be free from excessive force 

that amounts to punishment.   

25. The amount of force used in this case constituted gratuitous violence and was 

grossly disproportionate to the need to apply force or maintain discipline, particularly in light of 

the minimal severity of the alleged crime, the fact that Mr. Jones did not pose an immediate 

threat, and the fact that Mr. Jones was not actively resisting arrest. 
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26. The force used here was not in a good faith effort to maintain or restore discipline 

in circumstances under haste, under pressure, and without the luxury of a second chance. Rather, 

Defendants acted excessively, intentionally, and without a legitimate law enforcement purpose.  

27. As a direct and proximate result of the unlawful conduct of Defendant, Mr. Jones 

suffered injury from the deprivation of his civil rights as protected by the Fourteenth Amendment 

and the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

COUNT II- FAILURE TO PROTECT 
(DEFENDANTS CAPERTON AND FERGUSON) 

 
28.  Each Defendant observed or had reason to know that excessive force would be or 

was being used by the other Defendant and had both the opportunity and the means to prevent 

the harm from occurring and continuing to occur. 

29. There was sufficient time during the restraint for each Defendant separately to 

stop the other Defendant from the continued use of excessive force, yet each failed to take any 

action to stop the excessive force and actively participated in the excessive force. 

30. Each Defendant is liable for failing to protect Mr. Jones from each other’s 

excessive and unnecessary force because they owed Mr. Jones a duty of protection against such 

use of excessive force. 

31. The failure to protect Mr. Jones from excessive force was a violation of Mr. 

Jones’s Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment rights and was clearly established as such at the time. 

32. As a direct and proximate result of each Defendants’ failure to protect Mr. Jones  

from excessive force from the other, Mr. Jones suffered severe harm as more fully described 

above.   
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33. The actions and omissions of each Defendant complained of herein were 

unlawful, conscious shocking and unconstitutional and performed maliciously, recklessly, 

fraudulently, sadistically, retaliatory, intentionally, willfully, wantonly and in such a manner as 

to entitle the Plaintiff to an award of punitive damages. 

 
COUNT III - PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

(DEFENDANTS CAPERTON AND FERGUSON) 

34. The actions and omissions of the Defendants Caperton and Ferguson complained 

of herein were unlawful, conscious shocking and unconstitutional and performed maliciously, 

recklessly, fraudulently, sadistically, retaliatory, intentionally, willfully, wantonly and in such a 

manner as to entitle the Plaintiffs to a substantial award of punitive damages. 

 
COUNT IV – MUNICIPAL LIABILITY 
(DEFENDANT LAWRENCE COUNTY) 

35. Defendant Lawrence County had the responsibility to establish, institute and 

implement adequate policies and procedures regarding its law enforcement officers’ use of force 

when interacting with its citizens, whether detaining them, making an arrest, or simply 

interacting with them in an official capacity. Defendant Lawrence County had the responsibility 

to train its officers in the correct use of force procedures to be used when detaining citizens, 

making an arrest or simply interacting with them in an official capacity.   

36. Defendant Lawrence County has adopted policies, procedures, practices or 

customs within its law enforcement agency that allow, amongst other things, the excessive use of 

force when other more reasonable and less drastic methods are available.   
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37. Specifically, Lawrence County (by and through its agents) had actual knowledge 

that Defendants Caperton and Ferguson had used excessive force on numerous other persons on 

multiple occasions. This made it reasonably foreseeable and indeed inevitable that Defendants 

Caperton and Ferguson would continue using excessive force against other persons such as 

Plaintiff and result in injuries such as those which occurred here. Despite this knowledge, 

Lawrence County (by and through its agents) allowed Defendants Caperton and Ferguson to 

continue interacting with citizens without adequate additional training or supervision.  

38. Defendant Lawrence County’s decision to allow Defendants Caperton and 

Ferguson to continue interacting with citizens without additional supervision or training—despite 

knowledge of multiple prior uses of excessive force—amounts to a policy, practice, or custom. 

39. Defendant Lawrence County’s policy, practice, or custom as described above 

amounts to deliberate indifference to the rights of citizens, including Plaintiff, to be free from 

excessive force under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United 

States.   

40. As a result of the deliberate indifference of Lawrence County, Plaintiff is entitled 

to relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 

VI. PRAYERS FOR RELIEF 

41. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

42. That process issued to the Defendants and that they be required to answer in the 

time required by law. 
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43. That judgment be rendered in favor of the Plaintiff and against the Defendants on 

all causes of action asserted herein. 

44. That Plaintiff be awarded those damages to which it may appear that he is entitled 

for his medical bills incurred and that which will be incurred in the future, his physical, mental 

and emotional pain and suffering both past and future, loss of enjoyment of life both past and 

future and the violation of his rights guaranteed to him by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment 

to the Constitution of the United States. 

45. That Plaintiff be awarded Punitive Damages against Defendants Caperton and 

Ferguson.  

46. That as to all Defendants the Plaintiff be awarded reasonable expenses including 

reasonable attorneys fees and expert fees and discretionary costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988 

(b) and (c). 

47. That the Plaintiff receive any other further and general relief to which it may 

appear that he is entitled 

48. That a jury is demanded. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

/s/David J. Weissman                             
David J. Weissman (BPR #25188) 
Benjamin K. Raybin (BPR #29350) 

      RAYBIN & WEISSMAN, P.C. 
424 Church Street, Suite 2120 
Nashville, Tennessee 37219 
(615) 256-6666 
(615) 254-4254- fax 
dweissman@nashvilletnlaw.com  
braybin@nashvilletnlaw.com  
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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